
 

 

 
 
 

72 FREMONT PLACE 
 

LOS ANGELES 

 

Style:  English Tudor Revival 

Year of Completion:   1929 

Original Building Permit:  Permit #15494 was issued by the City of Los Angeles on May 31, 
1928 for the construction of a two-and-three-story, sixteen-room residence and garage.  The 
house, to measure approximately 29 by 115 feet with a maximum height of 42 feet, would have a 
concrete foundation, walls of brick veneer and stucco over sheathing, a slate roof, and a brick 
chimney.   

A copy of this permit is attached on pages 8 and 9. 

Cost to Build:  $38,000—a great amount for a new residence of this size at the time. 

Architect:   M. L. Barker, a local architect known for his residential and institutional designs, 
many prepared in partnership with G. Lawrence Ott.  Please see the biographical essay attached 
on pages 6 and 7.  

Builder:    C. T. McGrew & Sons, Long Beach. 

First Owner:   J. R. McKinnie, an oil company executive, who shared the house with his wife 
Elsie, their young daughter, and a live-in servant.  Mr. McKinnie had purchased the vacant 
parcel from Joseph K. Tobin who had bought it in 1923 from the Guaranty Trust & Savings 
Bank. 
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James Renwick McKinnie, Jr., was born in Cadiz, Ohio on March 13, 1884. His father James R. 
McKinnie, Sr. (1846-1922), was a wealthy gold-mine owner and real estate developer who later 
became a stockbroker.  James, Jr.’s mother Mary Jane (McNiece) McKinnie died when he was 
just sixteen, leaving his father to raise seven children ranging in age from 8 to 19.  The family 
was then living in Colorado Springs.  By 1910, James, Jr., had become the manager of a sugar-
beet processing factory, a business owned by his father.  

James, Jr., married the former Elsie Margaret Sullivan in 1910.  She was born in Grand Junction, 
Colorado, on May 7, 1887, and grew up in Galena, Missouri, where her father Edward was a lead 
and zinc miner. He later returned with his family to Grand Junction to become a County Court 
judge.  Mr. and Mrs. McKinnie were to have one daughter: Nancy Keene McKinnie (1918-
1995).  Mrs. McKinnie was later active in the Alumnae Club of Los Angeles and often hosted 
gatherings at her Fremont Place home. 

In 1918 Mr. McKinnie and his family were living in Casper, Wyoming where he had established 
his own oil exploration business known as the Rocky Mountain Drilling Company. Around 
1921, the McKinnies moved to Oklahoma City, and by 1923 were living in Long Beach, 
California.  It was there Mr. McKinnie became associated with the Marine Oil Corporation as its 
vice-president.  He also served as vice-president of the Sovereign Oil Company. 

Mrs. McKinnie died at the age of 47 on March 3, 1935.  The 1940 census reveals that her 
widowed husband was still living at 72 Fremont Place, but shared the house with his daughter 
Nancy, her husband Robert R. Angell, and a live-in housekeeper.  In 1942, Mr. McKinnie 
married his second wife, the former Ruth C. Peck (1906-1984).   

James McKinnie, Jr., died at the age of 80 on September 24, 1964 in La Habra.  He is interred at 
Forest Lawn in Glendale.   

Other Building Permits:   In April 1960, the kitchen was to be remodeled, including new 
cabinets.  There were to be no structural changes.  The owner was to act as his own contractor.  
The cost was $3,000. 

An existing 80-foot-long, 11-foot-tall retaining wall was to be repaired for $2,000, according to a 
permit issued in April 1962.  

Permission to build a 12-by-40-foot gunite swimming pool was given in November 1990.  To 
cost $19,000, it was to be constructed by Anthony Pools.   

A permit was issued in May 1994 to repair two earthquake-damaged chimneys at a cost of 
$5,000.  James Williams was the contractor.   

Copies of these permits are attached on pages 10 through 15.  

(Note: Permits for very minor alterations, such as water heater replacement, are not included.  
Also not included are permits missing from the file or whose microfilmed or digital copies are 
indecipherable and not otherwise recorded or described in Assessor’s records.)   
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Assessor’s Records:  The Los Angeles County Assessor first visited the property on  
September 11, 1929 and recorded a newly-completed two-story residence.  The house had a 
concrete foundation, walls of brick veneer, a gabled shingled roof, metal casement windows with 
roller screens, and brick and wood trim. Heat was provided by three fireplaces and an 
electrically-controlled gas furnace with eighteen registers.  There were 21 plumbing fixtures.  
Lighting fixtures were rated of “special” quality.  Plaster, Sanitas paper, and tinted wallpaper 
were the primary interior finishes.  A buffet and bookcases were built-in. The house had a total 
of fourteen hardwood floors.  Overall construction quality of the house was rated “extra special.”  
(In fact, “special” was the highest category available on the form, next to which the Assessor 
wrote in “extra.”)   
 
The Assessor estimated the square footage at 6,404. On the first floor were a walnut-paneled 
entry hall, three living rooms (one was probably a dining room), one bedroom, one bathroom, a 
kitchen with tiled walls, a butler’s pantry, and a breakfast room.  
 
The second floor contained a hall, four family bedrooms, three servants’ rooms, and four tiled 
bathrooms (two with walk-in showers). 
 
The basement recreation room had a decorated ceiling and an “extra” floor over the cement one.  
 
A 603-square-foot garage was attached to the house. It had a concrete floor and a plastered 
interior.   There were 713 square feet of brick terraces.   
 
The Los Angeles County Assessor currently estimates the square footage of the house at 6,324 
with five bedrooms and five bathrooms.   
 
Copies of the Assessor’s building records are attached on pages 16 through 19. 
 
Other Owners and Residents:  In October 1940, the McKinnie family sold their home to 
Geneva Lorena Zeiler, a native of Huntington, West Virginia, who had previously lived in 
Redondo Beach. Mrs. Zeiler (1883-1953) shared the house with her husband Avrum Herman 
Zeiler, a physician, and their adult children Virginia and Meyer.  Dr. Zeiler (1882-1943), born in 
Vienna, received his M.D. degree from Columbia University in 1905.   Meyer was a hospital 
intern.   
 
Kenneth Cary Clem (1902-1990) became the owner in December 1954. Mathilde I. Clem (1909-
1999), a native of Wyoming, joined her husband on title in 1955.  They moved into the house 
with their teen-aged daughter Barbara Ann Clem.  Dr. Kenneth Clem, born in Anderson, Indiana, 
and a graduate of USC, was a dentist. 
 
In February 1976, Michael A. and Carol M. Enright were recorded as the owners.  Mr. Enright 
has been a trustee owner since July 2008.  The Enright family have owned the property for over 
forty years.   
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Significance:  The McKinnie house is potentially eligible for listing on a local inventory of 
significant properties due to its fine design by a known architect, its good state of preservation, 
and its contribution to the architectural and historical context of the Fremont Place 
neighborhood. 
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Sources:   

City of Los Angeles, Building & Safety Department 
County of Los Angeles, Assessor (Los Angeles archives and Culver City district office) 
Los Angeles Public Library 
       
City Directories:  1929- 

Who Was Who in America, Vol. 4. 

Los Angeles Times:  March 5, 1935 

 Internet Resources, including California Index, California Death Index,  
Gale Biography Master Index, Ancestry.com, and Historic Los Angeles Times 
Database. 
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M. L. BARKER 

Architect 
 
Merl Lee Barker (or M. L. Barker as he was known professionally), remembered for his designs 
of residences and religious structures in traditional styles, was born in Lamar, Colorado on 
August 11, 1888. His father William was a jeweler.  By 1910, Merl was working as a post office 
distribution clerk in Denver.  
 
Like many designers of his generation, Mr. Barker appears not to have had academic training in 
architecture but gained experience by working as a draftsman in the offices of a number of 
established firms.  Among them were James B. Benedict in Denver, Maurice B. Biscoe, Manning 
& Frewen, and McLaren & Thomas.  Mr. Barker married his wife, the former Elizabeth (Beth) 
Chapman in Denver in 1912.  They would have three children: Jane, Betty, and Billy. By 1920 
the family had relocated to Los Angeles and were living at 1174 North Kenmore Avenue.  
 
Soon after his arrival in Southern California, Mr. Barker accepted a position with the well-known 
architect Myron Hunt.  One of the first projects for which he received co-credit was a house 
designed in association with Henry Harwood Hewitt in 1921. By 1922, Mr. Barker had 
established his own architectural office at 1505 North Western Avenue, Room 201.  He 
undertook a number of residential and institutional commissions.  Among these: the Immaculate 
Heart of Mary Church in Hollywood (1921); a $75,000 fourteen-room Classical Italian-style 
home for E. M. Smith in Berkeley Square (1923); the Good Shepherd Church in Beverly Hills—
plans only (1923); the fifteen-room Newman Club for the University of California, Southern 
Branch (now UCLA) at 4665 Willowbrook Avenue, costing $50,000 (1925); the Spanish-style 
John C. Fremont branch library at Melrose and June Streets (1926); and the sixteen-room J. R. 
McKinnie residence at 72 Fremont Place (1928).  In 1927, Mr. Barker was asked to exhibit his 
work under the auspices of the Hollywood Architects League.     
 
In 1929, Mr. Barker went into partnership with G. Lawrence Ott.  Their firm, known as Barker & 
Ott, was located at 4334 West Pico Boulevard.  G. Lawrence Ott was born in Los Angeles in 
1895 and received his education at the University of Notre Dame, from which he graduated in 
1921.  He worked independently for about ten years, designing a number of religious structures.   
 
Barker & Ott specialized in the design of Catholic churches, schools, and hospitals in the Los 
Angeles area.  These included: Cathedral Chapel, St. Mary Magdalen Catholic Church, and 
additions to Conaty High School (all in 1930); Mt. Carmel High School (Los Angeles–1934);  
St. Charles Borromeo Catholic Church (North Hollywood–1938)—in association with Lawrence 
D. Viole; Mount St. Mary’s College (Brentwood–1939, with additions in 1940, 1956,1961 and 
1973)—its Spanish Gothic chapel and faculty building described as “lovely” by architectural 
historians Gebhard and Winter; Bellarmine-Jefferson High School (Burbank--1945)—a facsimile 
of Independence Hall, complete with a Liberty Bell; a gym for Belvedere Junior High School 
and Junipero Serra High School (Gardena—both 1950); St. Anthony’s Church (Long Beach–
1952)—with its two massive Gothic towers and entry screen; an auditorium for Bellarmine-
Jefferson High School that was inspired by the library at the University of Virginia (1952); 
Sacred Heart Chapel at Loyola University (1953)—a good example of postwar Spanish Revival 
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according to Gebhard and Winter; La Salle High School (Pasadena–1955); St. Bernard High 
School (1958); Ferman Laswain High School (1959); the Convent (now Pastoral Center) at  
St. Monica’s Catholic Church (Santa Monica--1960); and St. John Military School and Queen of 
Angels Hospital (both 1961).  Additional projects were built over the years in Baldwin Park, 
Santa Ana, Westchester, Sylmar, and Encino.  Other church-related buildings included the 
offices of the Tidings weekly newspaper and the Catholic Charities Center, both on West 9th 
Street. Beginning in 1938, Barker & Ott designed what was often called the Boys’ Town of the 
West–the multi-acre residential Rancho San Antonio in Chatsworth sponsored by Catholic Big 
Brothers.   
 
Barker & Ott did design some secular buildings as well, especially during the Great Depression 
when church commissions may have waned.  These included the Leland Street Elementary 
School (1934), an apartment building in the Spanish Colonial style at 8256 West Norton Avenue 
(1934), the Department of Motor Vehicles building on Cahuenga Blvd. in Hollywood (1936), 
and the Smiley residence in Palos Verdes (1937).  They are also credited with a factory building 
at 805 East San Fernando Blvd. in Burbank designed in 1941 for the Defense Corporation and 
the contemporary-style Memorial Cancer Research Center at 3rd Street and Loma Drive, Los 
Angeles, in 1950. 
 
Both Mr. Barker and Mr. Ott became members of the Southern California Chapter of the 
American Institute of Architects in 1946.  
 
Merl Barker died on July 28, 1970 at the age of 81.  He is interred at Holy Cross Cemetery in 
Culver City.  G. Lawrence Ott at some point moved to Orange County where he passed away in 
1975, age 80.  Only brief death notices were found for both men in the Los Angeles Times. 
  
 
Sources: 
 
American Architects Directory, 1962.   
Gebhard, David and Robert Winter.  An Architectural Guidebook to Los Angeles. 
  Salt Lake City, Gibbs-Smith, 2003. 
Los Angeles Times: various articles 
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